$_{ m S}$ \$219534

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JOHNNY BLAINE KESNER,

Petitioner,

v.

SUPREME COURT

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF ALAMEDA,

Respondent,

JUN 25 2014

sonk A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

PNEUMO ABEX, LLC,

Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NO. A136378 (CONSOLIDATED W/ A136416)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*LISA PERROCHET (BAR No. 132858)
ROBERT H. WRIGHT (BAR No. 155489)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
lperrochet@horvitzlevy.com
rwright@horvitzlevy.com

BRYDON HUGO & PARKER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does an employer owe a duty of care to persons claiming injury from exposure to asbestos solely through off-site contact with employees who carry asbestos fibers on their work clothing, tools, vehicles or persons?
- 2. If an employer owes such a duty, is it limited to immediate family members living full-time in the home, or does a duty extend to visitors, guests, or others the employee may come into contact with?

INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents a major issue of compelling interest, one that has now divided the courts of appeal: does an employer owe a duty to nonemployees secondarily exposed to toxins taken off premises on the persons, clothing, tools or vehicles of employees? Hundreds of "take-home" exposure cases have been filed in recent years in California, with the number only increasing. Litigants and lower courts need clear guidance regarding the scope of any duty in such cases.

In Kesner v. Pneumo Abex LLC (Kesner), the First District held, for the first time in a California published opinion, that employers owe a duty in take-home cases, and that this duty exists in favor of anyone (friend, acquaintance, colleague or extended family member) who had "recurring and non-incidental contact with the employer's employee." (Typed opn. 2.) The duty of care extended to plaintiff Johnny Blaine Kesner even though he never once visited defendant Pneumo Abex LLC's plant, and was never a member of an Abex employee's household, but rather was at most a regular visitor to the home of his uncle, one of Abex's employees, who lived 40 miles from the plant. (Typed opn. 3 & fn. 2; see 4 AA 911, 913.)

The extension of a duty of care to nonemployees cannot be reconciled with recently published opinions from different divisions of the Court of Appeal, which themselves take divergent views of the issue:

Oddone v. Superior Court (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 813, 822-823 (Oddone) held that an employer was not liable for take-home exposures, on public policy grounds ("imposing a duty toward nonemployee persons saddles the defendant employer with a burden of uncertain but potentially very large scope").

Campbell v. Ford Motor Co. (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 15, 34 (Campbell) held that "a property owner has no duty to protect family members of workers on its premises from secondary exposure to asbestos used during the course of the property owner's business" (opinion modified by Court of Appeal on denial of rehearing to delete references to whether an employer would have such a duty).

Elsheref v. Applied Materials, Inc. (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 451, 453-454 (Elsheref), followed Campbell to find a lack of duty with respect to take-home exposures where a minor asserted a claim against his father's former employer for negligence, after the minor was born with birth defects alleged to have been caused by in utero exposures through his father's contact with his mother. But the court held the minor could assert a product liability claim because the court believed "duty" is not a concept that has any bearing in product cases.

Just one month after *Kesner* found a broad duty to third parties was owed by an employer in a take-home situation, *Haver v. BNSF Railway Co.* (June 3, 2014, B246527) __ Cal.App.4th __ [2014 WL 2466570, at pp. *3-*4] (*Haver*) held, in a divided opinion, that "*Campbell's* conclusion [finding no duty] is consistent with the majority view on the issue of premises liability to third parties based on off-site exposure to asbestos," adding, "We conclude that

BSNF owed no duty of care to [the spouse of defendant's employee]." As noted in *Haver*, the majority view in the United States is *not* to impose a duty on either premises owners *or* employers for takehome exposures. And, even as to those courts that have imposed such a duty, no published decision has ever involved a guest in the employee's home.

The foregoing line of recent opinions reflects no coherent unifying legal principle on the question of duty. If review is not granted in *Kesner*, not only will there remain a split among the courts of appeal, there will rise wave after wave of nonemployees suing employers for alleged exposures to asbestos. Under *Kesner*, anyone with "recurring and non-incidental" contact with an employee may assert a claim; "a long-term guest" in an employee's home has a cause of action, but "persons whose contact with an employer's worker is only casual or incidental" do not. (Typed opn. 2, 11.) Between those extremes lie any number of claimants, the winnowing of which is a task the First District was careful to "not address" but rather leave to the trial courts, and later the appellate courts, who no doubt will now feel the full brunt of the very type of claims that most jurisdictions have ruled inappropriate and potentially overwhelming.

The risk and harm to our society of excessive and uncontrolled litigation should not be underestimated. The fact that so many take-home cases for asbestos exposure alone have resulted in published opinions in just two years speaks volumes. Kesner's own Court of Appeal briefing in this case asserted that the issue was important because of the "many other cases based on similar facts,"

that asbestos litigation "is prevalent," and "'take-home exposure' cases constitute a significant portion of asbestos civil suits." (PWM 1, 18.) If Kesner stands, the door is open for any person with mesothelioma to seek redress from the employer of any friend or relative that the person regularly visited—even though the consensus among defense and plaintiffs' experts alike is that mesothelioma can and does occur spontaneously in a significant number of people without any occupational asbestos exposure, so any claimed link to minute take-home exposures is tenuous at best. Vigorous and creative plaintiffs' attorneys have been extending asbestos litigation in such fashion for decades now, and there is no reason to think limits will ever be self-imposed.

Moreover, there is no reason to think the *Kesner* holding will be available only to mesothelioma victims. It will no doubt extend to plaintiffs claiming lung cancer and other diseases. The *Kesner* opinion itself noted that chemicals, fumes and toxins other than asbestos will be implicated by the ruling. (Typed opn. 9.) And not just California employers could be subject to the *Kesner* rule, but any employer anywhere hailed into a California court, such as Abex here, even if their plant or worksite sits in a jurisdiction where that employer legally has no duty, or a limited duty, for take-home exposures.

The First District has immeasurably expanded the scope of an employer's duty, in direct conflict with prior California law and that of other jurisdictions. These issues more than satisfy the requirements of California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)—"to

secure uniformity of decision," and "to settle an important question of law." Respectfully, Abex requests that this Court accept review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1972, at age 10, Kesner and his mother moved to Romney, West Virginia, where Kesner's aunt and uncle, Francis and George, lived. (4 AA 911-912.) As a child, Kesner visited his uncle George's home once or twice a week, and as a teenager three or four times a week; after he joined the Navy in 1979, he would visit on furloughs. (4 AA 1066, 1070-1071.) "[E]very once in a while" Kesner would sleep over. (4 AA 915.) His uncle was not always present. He would typically see his uncle in the mornings before heading out to school. They would occasionally hunt, ride motorcycles, play football and softball, roughhouse, take rides in George's car, and have breakfast. (4 AA 914-915, 1071, 1073.) He rode in his uncle's car once a week. (4 AA 915.) He did not launder his uncle's clothes. (4 AA 1069.)

Beginning in 1973, George worked at Abex's Winchester, Virginia plant. (4 AA 1058.) Kesner, however, was never employed by Abex and never once visited the Winchester plant, located over 40 miles from Romney across the state line. (4 AA 911, 913.) Kesner never worked with or around any Abex brake linings or other product made at that plant.

The Winchester plant manufactured automotive brake linings, some of which incorporated chrysotile asbestos. (4 AA 932, 1058.) Beginning in the early to mid-1970's, shortly after the

advent of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and following the increasing concerns about potential health hazards of asbestos, Abex placed caution labels concerning asbestos on the packaging of its brake lining products. (4 AA 932-933, 937, 955-956.)

Shortly after he began working at Abex, George came to understand that exposure to asbestos could be a health hazard. (4 AA 1075.) At some point in the 1970's, Abex provided George and all other Winchester employees a written booklet describing in detail the potential health hazards of asbestos. (*Ibid.*) George recalled his foreman at the time handing him the booklet but George refused to sign the signature flap acknowledging receipt. (*Ibid.*) Later, Abex again handed out the booklet but George again refused to sign a receipt acknowledging it had been provided. (4 AA 1075-1076.) George nonetheless kept the booklet until he left Abex's employment in 2007. (4 AA 1076.)

George agreed the Winchester plant had showers available for employees to use; he also understood he could change clothes before going home. (4 AA 1065, 1078.) Though he rarely did change his clothes before going home, he always dusted himself off as best he could and upon arriving home he always removed his shoes before entering the home. (4 AA 1065-1066.) His clothes would be "a little bit" dusty. (4 AA 1066.) George's wife, Francis, laundered George's work clothes. (4 AA 1069.)

Abex regularly swept and dusted the plant using manual and automated equipment. (4 AA 1079-1080.) George was aware air samples were taken regularly, OSHA inspected the plant, and Abex

was never cited for any excessive dust violations. (4 AA 1080.) Abex maintained an industrial hygienist department and conducted its own regular air samplings of the Winchester plant looking for any excessive levels of asbestos. (4 AA 1094-1095.) Dust levels were generally below those mandated by federal regulations and Abex took numerous dust suppression steps starting well before George's employment began. (4 AA 1099.) Overall, George liked Abex and spent four decades working at the Winchester plant. (4 AA 1081.)

In early 2011, Kesner was diagnosed with peritoneal mesothelioma.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The pleadings

Kesner filed his complaint in 2011, against 19 defendants, including Abex. (5 AA 1218-1219, 1230.) The list of defendants included manufacturers of pumps, turbines, oil purifiers, generators, and other industrial and shipboard machinery or supplies, as well as a ship builder, suppliers of raw asbestos fiber, repair and decking contractors, and insulation suppliers and contractors. (5 AA 1218-1219.)

The complaint asserted that Kesner himself handled or used the defendants' asbestos-containing products, the products were defective, had not been tested or researched, defendants "knew or should have known that the asbestos dust would be generated and released from their asbestos-containing products during the regular and intended uses of such asbestos products," and had not warned Kesner. (5 AA 1220-1225.) The complaint contained no allegations concerning Abex's plant or secondary "take-home" exposures.

By the time of trial, Abex was the sole remaining defendant. (Typed opn. 3.) Kesner had originally alleged three causes of action: negligence, breach of warranties, and strict liability. (5 AA 1215, 1220, 1226, 1227.) The latter two causes of action were summarily adjudicated in favor of Abex because Kesner did not claim, and had no evidence of, any exposure to any product placed in the stream of commerce by Abex. Kesner has not challenged the grant of summary adjudication, nor does he dispute that his only cause of action against Abex is the one that had evolved by the time of trial to assert negligence based on a claim of take-home exposure from his uncle's work at Abex.

B. The court proceedings

Shortly before trial was to commence, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion in *Campbell*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.4th at page 34, holding that a duty of care did not extend from premises owners to family members of workers. Whether *Campbell* precluded imposing a duty of care on Abex for take-home exposures came to the trial court in the form of a nonsuit motion. (6/27/12 RT 4-8.) On June 28, 2012, the trial court granted Abex's motion, ruling that "Abex owed no duty to Kesner for any exposure to asbestos through contact with an employee of the Abex plant in Winchester,

Virginia." (5 AA 1269-1270.) A judgment on the nonsuit was entered. (5 AA 1273.)

Kesner timely filed a notice of appeal and a petition for writ of mandamus. (5 AA 1274-1280.) The Court of Appeal, Division Three, consolidated the appeal with the writ proceedings.

On May 15, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion, reversing the judgment.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Kesner breaks new ground in holding that employers owe a duty of care to unknown third persons who may come into contact with asbestos toxins that employees carry away from the worksite on their clothing.

More than a dozen jurisdictions across the country have addressed whether employers and landowners owe a duty to persons secondarily exposed to asbestos or other toxins that were carried off premises by employees. The courts in a majority of those jurisdictions have found no duty should be imposed for such takehome or secondary exposures. (See Landin et al., Lesson Learned from the Front Lines: A Trial Court Checklist for Promoting Order and Sound Policy in Asbestos Litigation (2008) 16 J.L. & Pol'y 589, 624-625.)

The majority view includes employers or property owners, though most cases have involved employers. As noted in *Haver*, "'Under the emerging majority view, the court dismisses the suit,

holding that an employer can have no legal duty to an employee's spouse who never stepped foot inside the employer's facility.'" (Haver, supra, __ Cal.App.4th __ [2014 WL 2466570, at p. *3], quoting 4 Cetrulo, Toxic Torts Litigation Guide (2013) § 33:6, fn. omitted).

"[T]he courts are also wary of the consequences of extending employers' liability too far, especially when asbestos litigation has already rendered almost one hundred corporations bankrupt." (Note, Continuing War with Asbestos: The Stalemate Among State Courts on Liability for Take-Home Exposure (2014) 71 Wash. & Lee L.Rev. 707, 710, fns. omitted.)

Kesner is the first published opinion in California to impose a duty on an employer for secondary exposures, and the only appellate court in the country to have extended a duty in favor of a guest in an employee's home. As we discuss below, California law is now in conflict as to whether the burdens of imposing a duty for third parties' alleged off-site exposures are too great, especially in comparison to any minimal foreseeability of latent harm to those third parties, to justify imposition of a duty of care.

B. Contrary to *Kesner*, several California appellate cases have held there is no duty for property owners or employers to people secondarily exposed.

1. Oddone v. Superior Court (2009)

In *Oddone*, the plaintiff claimed employer-defendant Technicolor was liable for take-home exposures from toxic vapors and chemicals her employee-husband absorbed on his work clothes and continually brought home from his employment starting decades earlier. The trial court sustained Technicolor's demurrer without leave to amend.

On appeal, the court noted that no prior reported California decision had extended liability for take-home or secondary exposures. (Oddone, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 820.) The court applied the factors outlined in Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108 (Rowland) to determine if there was any duty owed by Technicolor to its employee's spouse. The court recognized the endlessly expansive burden such a new duty would place on employers:

[I]t is hard to draw the line between those nonemployee persons to whom a duty is owed and those nonemployee persons to whom no duty is owed. Including "all family members" into the former category would be too broad, as not all family members will be in constant and personal contact with the employee. Limiting the class to spouses would be at once too narrow and too broad, as others may be in contact with the employee and spouses may not invariably be in contact with the

employee. Limiting the class to those persons who have frequent and personal contact with employees leaves at large the question what "frequent" and "personal" really means. This is only a sampling of the problem.

(Oddone, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 822.)

The court concluded that imposing a duty towards non-employee persons would saddle the defendant employer with an uncertain but potentially very large burden, with untoward consequences to the community in paying for the costs of insuring against such "potentially massive" liability. "[I]n a less than perfect world it appears to make more sense to look to the nonemployee person's insurance to cover the risk. In the normal course of events, such insurance will be already in place and its cost is not likely to be influenced by the risk created by the employer's conduct." (Oddone, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 823.)

2. Campbell v. Ford Motor Co. (2012)

Two years ago, in *Campbell*, the court followed *Oddone* in refusing to impose a duty based on claimed take-home exposures. In *Campbell*, plaintiff Eileen Honer developed plural mesothelioma in part, she claimed, from take-home exposures to asbestos over a seven-year period starting in the mid-1940's, when she was 11 or 12, from her father and brother, who both worked with and around asbestos-containing products. Between 1947 and 1948, Honer's father and brother worked as insulators for an independent contractor hired by Ford Motor Company in the construction of a Ford Motor Company Lincoln-Mercury plant in New Jersey, and

"were exposed to asbestos-containing products which caused their clothing, bodies, vehicles and tools to be contaminated with great quantities of respirable asbestos fibers." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 20.) Plaintiff was in turn exposed to the fibers through contact with her father and brother "as well as their clothing and other belongings." (Ibid.)

The Court of Appeal addressed "whether a premises owner has a duty to protect family members of workers on its premises from secondary exposure to asbestos used during the course of the property owner's business." As in *Oddone*, the answer was no: "Our examination of the *Rowland* factors leads us to the conclusion Ford owed Honer no duty of care." (*Campbell*, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 29, referring to *Rowland*.)

A fundamental element of any cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty of care running from the defendant to the plaintiff. The existence and scope of any such duty are legal questions for the court. "[D]uty is not an immutable fact of nature but only an expression of the sum total of those considerations of policy which lead the law to say that the particular plaintiff is entitled to protection." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 26, internal quotation marks omitted.) "The element of a legal duty of care generally acts to limit the otherwise potentially infinite liability' that would otherwise flow from every negligent act." (Id. at p. 31, quoting Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370, 397, internal citations and quotation marks omitted.)

Campbell quoted with approval the rationale expressed by the court in *Oddone*, which rationale applies equally to premises and

employer defendants: "The gist of the matter is that imposing a duty toward nonemployee persons saddles the defendant employer with a burden of uncertain but potentially very large scope. One of the consequences to the community of such an extension is the cost of insuring against liability of unknown but potentially massive dimension. Ultimately, such costs are borne by the consumer. In short, the burden on the defendant is substantial and the costs to the community may be considerable." (Campbell, supra, 206 Cal.App.4th at p. 33, quoting Oddone, supra, 179 Cal.App.4th at p. 822.)

In cataloging foreign authorities, the court treated alike cases dealing with premises owners and employers. It stated:

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