IN THE

JUL 15 2014

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

JOHNNY BLAINE KESNER,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Respondent.

VS.

PNEUMO ABEX, LLC,

Defendant, Respondent, and Petitioner.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, NO. A136378/A136416; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT, COUNTY OF ALAMEDA, NO. RG11578906, HON. JOHN M. TRUE III, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSIAH W. PARKER (SBN 278703) Weitz & Luxenberg, P.C. 1880 Century Park East, Suite 700 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Tel: (310) 247-0921 jparker@weitzlux.com TED W. PELLETIER (SBN 172938)
Kazan, McClain, Satterley & Greenwood
A Professional Law Corporation

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

The Opinion below is not in conflict. To the contrary, the Opinion expressly notes that it "need not question" *Campbell*'s holding to reject Abex's request for a duty exception here because the two cases are very different. [Opinion at 7.]

The Opinion well articulates these differences. First, unlike the *Campbell* claims against Ford for mere "premises liability," here Johnny asserts Abex's liability for "negligence in the manufacture of asbestos-containing brake linings." [*Id.* at 7.] This is a clear distinction – between nonfeasance (owning a premises) and misfeasance (creating a hazard).⁶ And these differences result in a far different application of several *Rowland* factors, including both the "closeness of the connection" between the defendant's conduct and the plaintiff's harm and the defendant's "moral blame." [*See id.* at 8.]

Second, unlike in *Campbell* (where Ford had at most constructive knowledge), here the evidence shows that "Abex <u>was aware</u> of the risks to those exposed directly or indirectly to the asbestos dust generated in its facility" but "took no steps to avoid those risks." [Opinion at 8 (emphasis added).] Thus, the *Rowland* "foreseeability" factor weighs much more heavily here.

In these circumstances, unlike in *Campbell*, the "foreseeability of harm" to Abex was "substantial" – and not "clearly" outweighed by the *Rowland* policy factors. [*Id.*] Thus, in this very different case, the

⁶ See Seo v. All-Makes Overhead Doors (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1193, 1202 ("Misfeasance exists when the defendant is responsible for making the plaintiff's position worse, i.e., defendant has <u>created</u> a risk. Conversely, nonfeasance is found when the defendant has failed to aid plaintiff through beneficial intervention. Liability for misfeasance is based on [Civil Code section 1714's] general duty of ordinary care to prevent others from being injured by one's conduct. Liability for nonfeasance is limited to situations in which there is a special relationship that creates a duty to act." [Internal citations omitted.]).

Opinion below correctly rejects Abex's no-duty argument—a holding that does not conflict with *Campbell*.⁷

b. Oddone.

Oddone also does not hold that "no duty" exists to "people secondarily exposed" to asbestos off the worksite. [See Petition at 12.] Indeed, it contains no general "duty" rule at all.

In *Oddone*, a Technicolor employee died of a brain tumor after exposure on the job to "toxic chemicals." [*Oddone*, 179 Cal.App.4th at 815.] The appeal involved a claim brought by the employee's wife for her own alleged injuries caused when "her husband brought home toxic vapors and chemicals." [*Id.* at 815-816.] But through two complaints (original and amended), the wife was unable to allege either any "chemical that caused the injury" or any "specific illness" that she allegedly suffered. [*Id.* at 816-817, 820-822.] Thus, her complaint violated this Court's decision in *Bockrath*, under which a complaint alleging harmful chemical exposure "must specify" both the "chemical that caused the injury" and "the injury." [*Oddone*, 179 Cal.App.4th at 821 (*citing Bockrath v. Aldrich Chem. Co.* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 71, 80).]

The *Oddone* decision could and should have ended there, affirming the judgment on demurrer under *Bockrath* based on inadequate pleading.

⁷ If this Court disagrees and grants review on the ground that the Opinion conflicts with *Campbell*, plaintiff reserves his right to argue on the merits that *Campbell* was wrongly decided, improperly usurping the jury's role in assessing "breach" in the guise of "duty" analysis, in violation of *Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 772-773.

But *Oddone* continued, purporting to weave the *Bockrath* pleadings analysis into a *Rowland* duty examination. [*Id.* at 822-823.] In that unnecessary context, *Oddone* found no "duty" in that specific case. The *Rowland* balance necessarily favored no duty because the pleading deficiencies negated any "foreseeability" showing. [*Id.* at 822 (because "we do not know what the harm is" we "cannot even ask" if it "was foreseeable").]

Again, the analysis could and should have ended there. But the court plodded on, finally musing generally about the defendant's "burden of uncertain but potentially very large scope." [*Id.* at 822.]

But *Oddone* did not purport to lay down a "duty" rule for anything beyond that case's specific facts. The court's ruling was expressly case-specific: "[G]iven the allegations of this complaint, we cannot say that Technicolor had a duty to petitioner." [*Id.* at 823.] And the court was careful to note that it did "not hold that a plaintiff cannot state a cause of action for secondary exposure to toxic chemicals" – the deficiency was merely "in this case." [*Id.* at 822.]

Indeed, Abex admitted as much below, seeking a no-duty ruling only when *Campbell* was decided (on the eve of trial) and acknowledging that, "[u]ntil last week [*Campbell* decision filed] there was no reported California appellate decision addressing" the "duty of care" issue in "take-home exposure cases." [2 AA 494, 497:20-22.]

Because *Oddone* contains no general "duty" rule, the Opinion below cannot and does not conflict with it.

c. Elsheref.

Elsheref also does not hold that "no duty" exists to "people secondarily exposed" to a toxin off the worksite. [See Petition at 12.] Like Oddone, Elsheref is fact-specific and contains no general "duty" rule at all.

Indeed, *Elsheref* is not even a "secondary exposure" case. There, an employee was exposed at work to toxic chemicals and radiation. [*Elsheref*, 223 Cal.App.4th at 454.] He did not carry any toxins off-site. Instead, his complaint alleged that such exposures injured <u>him</u>, including in affecting his ability later to create a healthy child – and that his employer, AMI, knew of this risk. [*Id.* at 455.] When the employee and his wife later conceived, their child was born with severe birth defects.⁸ [*Id.*]

In these unique circumstances (unrelated to secondary, off-site exposure), *Elsheref* found that the *Rowland* factors balanced in favor of a duty exception "in the circumstances of this case." [*Id.* at 460-461.] The court did not purport to issue any broader no-duty rule that applied in secondary-exposure or other cases.

Contrary to Abex's insinuation here, the Opinion did not "bypass" *Elsheref* because that decision is somehow applicable or contrary. The Opinion does not cite *Elsheref* because Abex did not bring that Opinion (decided after briefing) to the appellate court's attention.⁹

⁸ Contrary to Abex's claim here, *Elsheref* did not involve "*in utero*" toxin exposures. [Petition at 3.]

⁹ When oral argument was scheduled, plaintiff submitted a case-update letter; Abex did not. [See http://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search/case/dockets.cfm?dist=1&doc id=2023585&doc no=A136378.]

d. Haver.

Nor does *Haver* hold that "no duty" exists to any "people secondarily exposed" to asbestos off the worksite. [See Petition at 12.] *Haver* simply holds that its circumstances are governed by *Campbell*, so that "BNSF owed no duty of care to Lynn" under the circumstances presented. [*Haver*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 1111.]

Haver contains virtually no independent analysis, simply following Campbell. In rejecting the plaintiff's claim that Campbell was "incorrectly decided," Haver cites no part of the Campbell decision, not even that case's facts. [Id. at 1109-1110.] Nor does Haver cite any other case law, from California or otherwise, instead resting its ruling on two torts treatises and two out-of-state law review articles. [See id.]

Haver's attempt to distinguish the Opinion below is similarly vacuous. The Opinion, and the nonsuit it reverses, involve only a claim for Abex's negligence. [Opinion at 4 ("This case involves the asserted liability of a negligent manufacturer to a plaintiff for injuries arising as a result of the plaintiff's exposure to a harmful substance through contact with the manufacturer's employee away from the manufacturer's premises.").] Plaintiff's strict-product-liability claim was earlier dismissed on summary adjudication of issues. [2 AA 496:27-28.] But Haver brushes the Opinion aside because

¹⁰ Haver's deficiencies run deeper than its utter lack of principled analysis. The opinion is simply sloppy, from using wrong words ("waivered" [sic wavered], 226 Cal.App.4th at 1109), to requiring a modification to correct two mistaken references from "Defendants" to "Plaintiffs" (id. at 1109).

(assertedly) "the cause of action in *Kesner* is for <u>products liability</u>." [*Haver*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 1106, 1109 (emphasis added).]

By far the most compelling and principled part of *Haver* is its strong dissent by Judge Mink. [*Id.* at 1111-1113.] The dissent properly notes that "*Kesner*" is a "negligence case" and finds that in *Haver*, unlike in *Campbell*, "application of the *Rowland* factors, as fully discussed in *Kesner*, requires a finding that BNSF did owe a duty to Mrs. Haver." [*Id.* at 1112.] The dissent notes the argument, also raised by Abex here, that refusing to carve a duty exception "raise[s] the specter of a flood of lawsuits" – and correctly "question[s] the factual basis" of that concern. [*Id.*] Most importantly, the dissent finds that recognizing the defendant's duty is supported by "stronger public policy considerations": "Society does not benefit by allowing tortfeasors to avoid responsibility for their tortious conduct, particularly in cases . . . where the injury is a physical one and its cause undisputed." [*Id.*]

The *Haver* majority omits any such policy-based analysis. Its parroting of several secondary treatises to justify *Campbell* does not state any categorical "no duty" rule beyond *Campbell*, and its attempt to distinguish the Opinion below rests on a factual misstatement of Johnny's claim against Abex.

In sum, none of Abex's cited decisions state a categorical noduty rule – and the Opinion below thus does not disturb uniformity of decision.

3. Abex's proposed rule would make terrible policy that violates the rules of proper duty analysis.

This Court should deny review also because the rule that Abex expressly seeks with its Petition would violate the well-established rules for California duty analysis – and make terrible policy.

Abex unabashedly seeks a universal exception to the duty of care in every case involving "off-site" exposure to asbestos. [See Petition at 1 (presenting issue of whether "a duty of care" is owed to any "persons claiming injury from exposure to asbestos solely through off-site contact"), 11 (advocating rule that "employer can have no legal duty to an employee's spouse who never stepped foot inside the employer's facility").] This proposed rule would apply in every circumstance, no matter the facts of the case: *i.e.*, no matter how egregious the negligence in exposing the worker on-site, nor how foreseeable it was to the defendant that the worker was exposing others to harm off-site. This unjust result cannot be supported by California public policy.

Indeed, Abex's proposed rule would seem to apply not only to "take home" exposures, where the toxin is carried off-site by an unwitting worker, but to exposures where the toxin is carried by the wind (e.g., toxic clouds negligently released outdoors) or water (e.g., poison negligently dumped into a stream). In each case, the defendant engages in negligent conduct on-site that poses a foreseeable danger to people off-site. But Abex's rule would negate any duty to any such "people secondarily exposed." [See Petition at 12.] No valid policy concern would support this. A defendant who releases a danger that

threatens people off its premises – whether carried off-site by wind, water, or worker – should face liability for the harm it causes.¹¹

Abex's proposed rule would also violate this Court's duty-analysis teachings. *Cabral* reminds us that a duty exception is proper only when "clear considerations of policy" justify "carving out an entire category of cases." [*Cabral*, 51 Cal.4th at 772.] If a clear, policy-based line cannot be drawn between categories of cases where the duty does and does not apply, then <u>no line</u> should be drawn – the extant duty continues to apply in all cases.

Here, Abex advocates the opposite. Abex concedes that "no rational line can be drawn" between categories of cases: "the principal difficulty with [the *Rowland*] factors is trying to draw a line between those nonemployee persons to whom a duty is owed and those . . . to whom no duty is owed." [Petition at 17.] Abex's solution? Throw out all the cases – even those (as here) where the *Rowland* factors clearly balance in favor of recognizing the duty.

This is backwards – and wrong. *Cabral* dictates that, when a duty line cannot be drawn clearly, then <u>none</u> may properly be drawn at all.

Because Abex's Petition seeks an unsupportable no-duty rule, the Petition should be denied outright.

¹¹ See Davert v. Larson (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 407, 410 (horse wandering off property: "A landowner or possessor owes a duty of care to persons who come on his property as well as to persons off the property for injuries due to the landowner's lack of due care in the management of his property.").

C. If review is warranted, this Court should leave the Opinion intact and review *Haver*.

If this Court believes, as Abex asserts, that it must now "settle" the issue of the scope of a defendant's duty to people exposed to asbestos taken off the worksite premises, it should grant review not of the Opinion below but of *Haver* (in which a petition for review was filed on Monday, July 14).

The Opinion below is well-reasoned and legally supported, unanimous, and strikes a moderate balance on the duty issue (between *Campbell*-type mere-premises cases and *Kesner*-type active-hazard-creation cases). By contrast, *Haver* is supported by no real analysis, contains a strong, principled dissent, and implicitly supports the Draconian no-duty-ever rule that Abex espouses here. [*See Haver*, 226 Cal.App.4th at 1109-1110 (citing "view" that "an employer can have no legal duty" to off-site exposure victims).] Accordingly, *Haver* is a much more appropriate vehicle for this Court's review.

Moreover, if this Court is going to take the requisite time (likely two years or more) to review this issue, it should review (and thus depublish) *Haver* and leave the Opinion below published and intact. The Opinion serves as a proper and needed check on *Campbell's* overbroad no-duty rule, which purports to apply to every "premises owner," no matter the circumstances. The Opinion correctly and properly limits *Campbell* to its facts, allowing trial courts to analyze the circumstances in assessing duty. This is an appropriate, moderate *status quo* to maintain while this Court reviews the issue.

By contrast, if this Court grants review of (and thus depublishes) the Opinion below, during the review process trial courts will have only *Campbell* (and perhaps *Haver*) as their guide. We submit that it is very unlikely that this Court's review process will ultimately adopt the overbroad no-duty rule of *Campbell* (and *Haver*), a rule that violates both *Cabral* and sound public policy.

Accordingly, it makes little policy sense to make that the *de facto* rule during the review process.

Nor would this be just. If this Court reviews the Opinion below, leaving Campbell (and perhaps Haver) as the governing law on this issue, trial courts will likely dismiss the claims of dying takehome victims, who will then die without a judgment long before this Court's review is complete. A later affirmance of the Opinion below (with or without a disapproval of Campbell) will not help these victims, who will have suffered the irreparable harm of losing any claim to non-economic damages for pain and suffering. [See Code Civ. Proc. § 377.34.] But if this Court reviews *Haver*, leaving Campbell and the Opinion below as the governing law pending review, take-home victims (in *Kesner*-type cases) will be able to obtain a pre-death judgment, preserving all appropriate damages. And defendants in such cases would not suffer any irreparable harm. If this Court ultimately affirms Haver and disapproves of the Opinion below, any plaintiff's judgment resting on the Opinion would be subject to reversal on appeal.

In sum, this Court should deny review of the Opinion below. If this Court wants to "settle" the duty rule in take-home exposure cases, it can do so in *Haver*, leaving the well-reasoned Opinion here intact.

CONCLUSION

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